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With what enthusiasm did we start to feed patients with
pernicious anaemia on whole liver (to be followed soon by
intramuscular injections of crude extract), and to realize that
we had something to counteract the hitherto fatal effects of a
megalocytic anaemia.

A streptococcal septicaemia was then the most dreaded of
infective illnesse , for which nothing effective could be done.
Almost the same could be said for meningococcal infections,
for which repeated lumbar punctures were about all that could
be offered.

co 'CLUSIO

The good old days? By no means. There is almost nothing
that today is not better done or more easily and safely per­
formed. It is a privilege to have lived, in the course of one

working life, through a time so full of change for the better.
But what of the future? It is probable that the present ten­

dencies towards increased specialization and the fragmentation
of medicine will continue, that efficiency will increase and that
the laboratory and machine will play a greater and greater
part in the new sixteen-storey building which is rising from the
ashes of the old Addington Hospital.

In the welter of specializations, however, one hopes that
the general physician will remain to act as coordinator,
interpreter, general confidant, and friend of the patient.
Without such a pilot and the study of the patient as a whole,
whatever the technical advances, colossal errors of judgment
are bound to occur; and the patient will be left starving
in a land of plenty.

HISTORY OF GOVERNMENT HOSPITALS IN DURBAN*

1858 -1945

The Late MAURICE G. PEARSON, F.R.C.S., at one time Senior Surgeon, Addington Hospital, Durban

In 1856 atal became a Colony distinct from the Cape of
Good Hope of which it had hitherto been a province-and
often a troublesome one at that. The change was made on the
recommendation of Sir George Grey, Governor of the C.ape,
who, during the previous year, had pajd a visit to atal and
had made a grant of £1,000 for the establishment of the
hospital which bears his name at Pietermaritzburg. It is
probable that he also sugge ted a hospital at Durban, but it
was Mr. John Scott, First Lieut. Governor of the Colony
under its new constitution, who took active steps to achieve
this in 1858.

Durban was at that time a small town of 11,000 European
inhabitants though it had had its own Mayor and Corporation
for 5 years. It was a primitive place. Its transport was entirely
by ox-wagon and none of its roads were hardened. Ox­
wagons sank axle-deep in the sand of West Street and had
to be pulled out by a double-span. Durban Bay was a sandy
desert except at high tide when small ships could come in to
discharge their cargoes direct into the ox-wagons. The wagons
trekked out across 'the beach', i.e. the bayside which was
also the favourite bathing beach. The Ocean Beach, which we
know now as the play-place and bathing site for thousands
of holiday-makers, was at that time a solitary waste separated
from the town by extensive bush, and indeed until well into
the nineteen hundreds this was always called the 'Back
Beach' and was reached by a footway of a few planks placed
end-to-end from the corner of West Street and Point Road.

Where Barnes and McFies Arcade now is, a stream of
water bordered by bulrushes (and frogs) and spanned by a
foot-bridge for pedestrians, ran across West Street and down
to the bay. The only hospital in the town was the gaol hospital
in the old 'tronk' situated about where the present gaol in
Pine Terrace now is. Of this it was stated that 'the gaol
accommodation is becoming a scandal and some separation
of patients and prisoners, excluding lunatics, was essentially
necessary, the old tronk being wholly inadequate for both,
apart from its use as a police station'. (Russell's Old Durban.)

*Reprinted from South African Medical Congress Brochure, 1946.

There seems to be some doubt whether this hospital was
used for patients other than prisoners.

The First Government Hospital
It was in a township such as this, then, that Lieut. Governor

Scott suggested a Government hospital. In a despatch to the
Rt. Honourable Lord Stanley, Minister for the Colonies,
dated 31 July 1858, he wrote: 'I now propose to erect a
hospital at D'Urban at a cost of about £800. The hospital
will be a ative hospital, but, as there is no other building
of the kind at D'Urban, it will be open for the White
colonists while the accommodation will suffice for both' ...
it 'will require a small annual grant for a few years for the
salary of a matron and male attendant, for the purchase
of medicines and a small increase to the Government
allowance now paid to the district surgeon: but I have
every confidence that after the lapse of a short time these
institutions' (that is, the hospitals at Pietermaritzburg and
Durban) 'will become self-supporting'. Lt. Governor Scott's
optimism is charming. He soon found out, as so many after
him have done, that architects' and builders' estimates are
rarely below the actual cost, and 5 months later he wrote to
the Rt. Hon. Sir E. B. Lytton regretting 'to find that the
Durban Hospital will cost £1,697 8s. 9d.'

As to its 'soon becoming self-supporting' he was even
further from the mark; it never was so and now the estimate
of its upkeep (or rather of its successor at Addington) for 1946
amounts to £295,127. 'As a temporary measure pending erec­
tion of a proper hospital and as a result of endless represen­
tations and complaints, the Government engaged the well­
built brick residence of Mr. James McKnight in St. George
Street for the use of the sick.'

However, in 1859 the plans and estimates were passed and
in 1861 the building was completed; the Natal Mercury of
11 April 1861 reporting that 'the hospital under the able
architectural superintendence of R. S. Upton Esq., is finished
almost to the wall plates. It is one of the most considerable
buildings in the town':

This building was of brick, iron-roofed, and contained


